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Abbreviations and Acronyms
AIDS

Acquired Immune Deficiency Syndrome

MSM

Men who have Sex with Men

ART

Antiretroviral Treatment

NDoH

National Department of Health

ARV

Antiretroviral

NGO

Non-Governmental Organisation

CCM

Country Co-ordinating Mechanism

NSP

CCMA

Commission for Conciliation, Mediation and
Arbitration

National Strategic Plan on HIV, STIs and TB
(2012–2016)

NSP FC

National Strategic Plan Financing Committee

CDC

Centres for Disease Control

OIG

Office of the Inspector General

CEO

Chief Executive Officer

PBO

Public Benefit Organisation

CFO

Chief Financial Officer

PCAs

Provincial Councils on AIDS

CSF

Civil Society Forum

PEPFAR

President’s Emergency Plan For AIDS Relief

DAC

District AIDS Council

PFIP

Partnership Framework Implementation Plan

DFID

Department for International Development (UK)

PFMA

Public Finance Management Act

FDC

Fixed dose combination

PMTCT

Prevention of mother to child transmission

FHI

Family Health International

PRs

Principal Recipients

FOAs

Funding Opportunity Announcements

PRC

Programme Review Committee

GF

Global Fund

SANAC

South African National AIDS Council

GIZ

Deutsche Gesellschaft für Internationale
Zusammenarbeit

SANAC
Trust

South African National AIDS Council Trust

HCT

HIV Counselling and Testing

SARS

South African Revenue Service

HIV

Human Immunodeficiency Virus

SCM

Supply Chain Management

IFRS

International Financial Reporting Standards

STIs

Sexual Transmitted Infections

IGSS

Intergovernmental and Sector Support

TB

Tuberculosis

IMC

Inter-Ministerial Committee

TTT

Technical Task Team

LAC

Local AIDS Councils

UIF

Unemployment Insurance Fund

LGBTI

Lesbians, Gay, Bisexual, Transgender and Intersex

UN

United Nations

M&E

Monitoring and Evaluation

UNAIDS

United Nations Joint Programme on HIV/AIDS

MEC

Member of the Executive Council

USAID

United States Agency for International Development

MMC

Medical Male Circumcision
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STRATEGIC OVERVIEW
There are 6.59 million people living with HIV in South
Africa, making it the single biggest cause of premature
death and disability in the country. An estimated 136 817
people died from HIV in 2014. The WHO estimates that
there were 72 000 deaths in PLHIV in 2014 in which the
fatal event was TB. HIV mortality over the last two decades
has generated an estimated 3.1 million orphans placing
huge burdens on families, communities and the social
safety net. Two decades ago, the transmission of HIV from
mother to child in pregnancy caused high HIV prevalence
in children, resulting in very high child mortality. The
adult and paediatric epidemics have caused strain on the
health services. HIV has affected every single sector of the
social and economic life of the country including education, social services, and various economic sectors notably
mining, agriculture and road freight. In 2001 the Bureau
for Economic Research estimated that HIV reduced GDP
growth by 0.5% on average for the period 2002 to 2015.
The provision of antiretroviral treatment to an
estimated 3.1 million adults and children and the
reduction of transmission in pregnancy by almost 90%
have turned the tide against the picture painted above.
The impact of ART and PMTCT is reflected in declines in
mortality and an increase in life expectancy from 53 years
in 2006 to 61 years in 2012. Adult mortality has declined
by more than 50% since its peak in 2003 and 2004. Child
and infant mortality have declined by 25% in the period
2009 to 2012.
Though there has been a great deal of progress, we
are not seeing the declines in new infections that are
needed to burn out the epidemic by 2030 as proposed
by the new Sustainable Development Goals (SDGs) in the
National Development Plan. In 2012 the HSRC household survey estimated that there were 469 000 new
infections in persons aged two years and older. This is
reflected in the overall increase in prevalence from 10.6%
in 2008 to 12.2% in 2012. UNAIDS estimates that there
were 337 000 new infections in 2014. Unless we are able
to control new infections through effective prevention
programmes, the bill for ART will continue to rise exponentially bringing into serious question the long term
sustainability of treatment.
South Africa needs to make significant investments
in HIV prevention. At the same time there is a growing
demand for more treatment reiterated by the recent WHO
guidelines to provide early treatment regardless of CD4
count (the US, Western Europe, Brazil and Australia have
already taken this step).
We will need to balance our investments between
prevention and treatment to find the optimal mix given
our limited resources. At the present time we estimate that
the country spends approximately R21 billion on HIV
and TB. How much more money will we need to invest
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and what is the optimal mix of interventions to prioritise is a question that we are trying to answer through the
current planning taking place within the South African
government and inside SANAC. We are fortunate to have
well-developed modelling instruments and a well-stocked
repository of data to answer these questions. The recently completed Investment Case exercise has contributed
greatly to better understanding the long-run costs especially in respect of ART.
Sound planning, a careful evidence-based selection
of priorities optimally mixing prevention and treatment
interventions and carefully monitoring the epidemic and
our response are critical to a successful response. Costing
our intervention choices and analysing them over the
short and the long term are also essential at national and
provincial levels. Being smart about fundraising from
donors will yield significant financial contributions to the
South African response.
Finding efficiencies at the technical design level as
well as allocative efficiency of domestic and donor funds
are essential given the constrained fiscal environment we
are in.
Given appropriate resources and sufficient responsibility, the Trust should increase its contribution to planning,
prioritisation and finding the optimal mix of prevention
and treatment interventions in consultation with government and civil society and private sector stakeholders.
The Trust now has the capacity to effectively monitor and
evaluate the progress of implementation of the AIDS and
TB response through a monitoring and evaluation team
and to estimate expenditure and resource needs over the
medium to long term. It needs to strengthen its work in
these areas.
The Trust is also responsible for donor coordination
and directly manages the country’s Global Fund account
and is involved in the co-management of all PEPFAR
prevention funds, especially the DREAMS project (estimated at US$66 million for the two year period commencing 1 October 2015).
The current situation is that the SANAC Trust is
run on a shoe-string budget. The Trust is allocated core
funds from the NDoH. The Trust has been able to raise
donor funds to supplement its core income. Discussions
are under way with the Department of Health and the
Treasury about the Trust receiving funds from multiple
national government departments given the multi sector
nature of the work of the Trust.
Now that all the governance, financial management
and legal registration issues have been addressed and the
Trust has received an unqualified audit opinion (the third
in three consecutive years) and has a management team
and staff in place it is much better positioned to fulfil its
mandate in respect of the functions outlined below.

VISION
To have a South Africa free from the burden of HIV, TB and Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs).
MISSION
To build a credible Trust that leads the effective implementation of the National Strategic Plan through superb execution
and co-ordination of government, civil society and the private sector.
LEGISLATIVE AND OTHER MANDATES
Overarching Mandate
• South african national aiDS Council trust Deed

The Trust Deed states the objects of the Trust.
• national Strategic Plan for Hiv, Stis and tb

The object of the Trust stipulates that the overall mandate of the Trust is to coordinate and support the
implementation of the NSP.
Other legislative, functional and policy mandates
The following Acts of Parliament are pertinent to the functions of SANAC Trust:
• the trust Property Control act no. 57 of 1988: Provides for control of trust property and for matters connected

thereto.
• basic Conditions of employment act no. 75 of 1997: Provides for the minimum conditions of employment that

employers must comply with in their workplaces.
• Child Care act no. 74 of 1983: Provides for the protection of the rights and well-being of children.
• Compensation for occupational injuries and Diseases act no. 130 of 1993: Provides for compensation for

disability caused by occupational injuries or diseases sustained or contracted by employees in the course of their
employment, and for death resulting from such injuries or disease.
• Conventional Penalties act no. 15 of 1962: Provides for the enforceability of penal provisions in contracts.
• Designs act no. 195 of 1993: Provides for the registration of designs and matters incidental thereto.
• employment equity act no. 55 of 1998: Provides for the measures that must be put into operation in the

workplace in order to eliminate discrimination and promote affirmative action.
• labour relations act no. 66 of 1996: Regulates the rights of workers, employers and trade unions.
• occupational Health and Safety act no. 85 of 1993: Provides for the requirements that employers must

comply with in order to create a safe working environment for employees in the workplace.
• Promotion of equality and the Prevention of Unfair Discrimination act no. 4 of 2000: Provides for the further

amplification of the Constitutional principles of equality and elimination of unfair discrimination.
• Protected Disclosures act no. 26 of 2000: Provides for the protection of whistle-blowers in the fight against

corruption.
• Public Finance management act no. 1 of 1999: Provides for the administration of State funds by functionaries,

their responsibilities and incidental matters.
• Skills Development act no. 97 of 1998: Provides for the measures that employers are required to take to improve

the levels of skill of employees in workplaces.
• the Copyright act no. 98 of 1998: Provides for the protection of intellectual property of a literary, artistic or

musical nature that is reduced to writing.
• the merchandise marks act no. 17 of 1941: Provides for the covering and marking of merchandise and

incidental matters.
• trade marks act no. 194 of 1993: Provides for the registration of trademarks, certification and collective

trademarks and matters incidental, thereto.
• Unemployment insurance Contributions act no. 4 of 2002: Provides for the statutory deduction that employers

are required to make from the salaries of employees.
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ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
The organogram below reflects the organisational structure during the reporting period.
FIGURE 1: THE SANAC TRUST ORGANISATIONAL STRUCTURE
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Foreword
CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES

O

ur constitution guarantees that government must deal comprehensively with the socio-economic rights of
South Africans by providing services to the public that cater for the treatment and prevention of AIDS and
TB. Our constitution also guarantees that these services must be provided in ways that protect the human
rights of all affected by these diseases. It falls to SANAC, under the leadership of the Deputy President of
the Republic of South Africa, to ensure that the nation works efficiently together to combine our forces to tackle HIV, TB
and Sexually Transmitted Diseases (STIs). The SANAC Trust exists to ensure that all government departments, NGOs and
civil society, donors and the private sector are optimally engaged in the response.
The SANAC Trust has been established as the legal entity that must ensure that the objectives of the Trust and the
response to these diseases are comprehensive and that the task is carried out under an umbrella of good governance,
efficiency and value for money.
The Trustees and the management team have worked hard to ensure that all aspects of good governance are in place
so that the funds entrusted are properly managed and accounted for. In this regard the Trust has registered amendments
to the Trust Deed with the Master of the High Court and completed all registrations with the tax authorities and relevant
government departments have been completed. The Trust has been approved as a Public Benefit Organisation and is
tax exempt. All relevant policies to manage people, funds and risks are in place and give the Trustees the assurance that
practices are guided by policy and can therefore be subject to audit.
All of the good work described above was rewarded with an unqualified audit opinion from the external auditors
in the financial year under review. This is the third consecutive unqualified audit report the Trust has received in as
many years since the Trust became operational on 1 April 2012. This gives the Trustees confidence in the performance,
management and administration of the Trust.

Justice Z Yacoob
CHAIRPERSON OF THE SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

29 July 2015
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OVERVIEW
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

W

hat does SANAC do? This question
elicited different answers from
different stakeholders and depended
on the year in which the question
was asked! For many years, but especially in the period
from 2007 to 2011, SANAC was a conglomeration of
meetings (committees, sub-committees and technical
teams of the SANAC Plenary chaired by the Deputy
President of South Africa) of various stakeholders that
talked about and reached broad consensus on the
overall direction of government policy in respect of
HIV, TB and STIs. Much was achieved in that time. In
particular, the second and third National Strategic Plans
were agreed and a very successful HCT campaign was
conducted in which 13 million people were tested in
a 15-month period. A small SANAC Secretariat team
and volunteers from many stakeholders in government
and civil society pulled all of this together. The activities
were all funded by the Department of Health or
Development Partners. The Trust met a few times a year
but was unable to establish itself as a fully functional
institution and lacked the administration to transact.
That was then. Now we have a functional SANAC
Trust that is improving upon the achievements of the
past.
The Trust became operational on 1 April 2012. This
was the same day on which the current NSP commenced.
By the end of this reporting period (31 March 2015),
the Trust was fully functional and met the governance,
management and administration standards required
of an institution with the mandate and responsibilities
given to it by the founder of the SANAC Trust – the
government of South Africa. The administrative and
human capacity of the Trust has increased, revenues
and turnover increased many fold and the effectiveness
of SANAC and the Trust has increased substantially.
This is now widely recognised in the HIV sector.
So what does SANAC and the SANAC Trust do
these days? This question is answered in this Annual
Report so we will only provide an analytic description
of the work of the SANAC and the Trust. SANAC and
its committees meet regularly to discuss HIV, TB and
STIs. These meetings agree on the strategy for the
country, they consider policies and programmes that are
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inadequately catered for in the NSP and need further
attention such as the impact of the deaths of initiates on
male medical circumcision in the Eastern Cape or the
additional needs of sex workers. The committees bring
together government, civil society and the private sector
in what must be the most representative stakeholder
forum on HIV in the continent and also an example of
fostering consensus and collaboration for other sectors
of South African society. SANAC has been hailed in the
State of the Nation Address and by Parliament as a best
practice.
The SANAC Trust (Secretariat) organises and
finances the SANAC Plenary and all its committee
meetings and processes but the Trust does much, much
more than organise meetings.
The Trust works with multiple partners in
government and other institutions to deepen the
country’s ability to plan for the short and the long term.
In the year under review, the Trust partnered with the
Department of Health, UNAIDS and University of the
Witwatersrand to conduct the Investment Case Study
that modelled the optimal mix of interventions needed
to bring the HIV and TB epidemics under control by
2030 and also estimated the cost over that period of
time. The Investment Case Study has informed the
budget decisions of the NDoH and the Treasury. The
Trust has financed and led work on how to reduce HIV
incidence in young women and detailed the approach
and programme planning necessary to comprehensively
address the needs of sex workers and men who have sex
with men.
In short, we now have the capacity to engage at
the required level in respect of policy, planning and
costing required of a National AIDS Council. The Trust
has also deepened its coordination function through
nerve centre meetings that continuously review NDoH
HIV interventions, coordination and capacity building
of provincial aids councils and programmes to target
young women and key populations such as sex workers.
The Trust finances and manages the monitoring and
evaluation of the NSP. It has produced the first ever NSP
Annual Progress Report in the year under review and is
currently finalising the mid-term review assessment of
the NSP. Two reports have been submitted to UNAIDS

that review progress against the UN Top 10 indicators
and the M&E team submits country data to UNAIDS
every six months.
The Trust has also upped its game in respect of
donor coordination and resource mobilisation through
its management of the Global Fund portfolio in South
Africa. The Trust finances and manages a whole system
of proposal writing, consultation with stakeholders
(CCM), oversight and PR capacity building that has
resulted in annual disbursements to the country in
excess of US$100 million per annum.
The Trust has turned a very important corner over
the last three years. All the governance issues have been
addressed and the Board of Trustees has ensured that
the Trust functions well and meets obligations whilst
supporting the management team to implement its
programmes.
The finances of the Trust are now on a solid footing
and there has been an increase in the amounts of
funds raised as well as a diversification of the sources
of funds. The power of unqualified audits in previous
financial years cannot be underestimated and have led
to a greater willingness by donors to fund the Trust after
years of being both unable and reluctant to.
The addition of SANAC Trust onto the Treasury’s
budget book means that there can be some sustainability,
at least, for the core funding of the Trust.
The legal authority of SANAC and the Trust in
respect of national departments and the provincial aids
councils continues to be an obstacle to the full extent

to which the national level can support the work of the
provincial, district and local aids councils. The debate
about whether the Trust should be a public entity or
remain a Trust still needs some attention. Fortunately,
the Treasury has commenced a review of these issues
and also the funding channels for financing the Trust.
The SANAC Trust and the management team are
now ready to graduate to the next stage of scaling up our
support for the implementation of National Strategic
Plan. Coordination should extend to operational
planning with targets being set for departments,
provinces, donors and the private sector. Coordination
should extend to programmes that are dependent on
multiple departments for success. Support should
extend to technical assistance programmes for national
departments, provinces, NGOs and the private sector.
Monitoring and evaluation should also extend to
government and non-government sectors. M&E
should include involvement in surveillance, knowledge
management and research and development. Smart
choices will need to be made about what might be the
most effective ways of doing this. Once priorities haves
been determined the management team should set
ambitious targets for additional fund raising from the
Treasury and external donors both for the Trust needs
and the broader needs of departments and agencies
implementing the NSP. The Trust must continue to
attract and retain skilled and committed staff who
believes in the vision and mission of the Trust. This will
be the key to achieving our aims.

Dr Fareed Abdullah
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST

29 July 2015
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITY AND CONFIRMATION OF
ACCURACY FOR THE ANNUAL REPORT
To the best of my knowledge and belief, I confirm the following:
• All information and amounts disclosed in the annual report is consistent with the annual financial statements
audited by the external auditors, ARC Inc. The annual report is complete, accurate and is free from any omissions.
• The Annual Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS) applicable to the entity.
• The trustees are responsible for the preparation of the annual financial statements and for the judgements made in
this information.
• The trustees are responsible for establishing, and implementing a system of internal control has been designed
to provide reasonable assurance as to the integrity and reliability of the performance information, the human
resources information and the annual financial statements.
• The external auditors are engaged to express an independent opinion on the annual financial statements.
• In our opinion, the annual report fairly reflects the operations, the performance information, the human resources
information and the financial affairs of the entity for the financial year ended 31 March 2015.

___________________
DR FAREED ABDULLAH
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST
29 July 2015

___________________
ZAK YACOOB
CHAIRPERSON OF THE BOARD
SOUTH AFRICAN NATIONAL AIDS COUNCIL TRUST
29 July 2015
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ARC INC’S REPORT: PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
Independent Assurance Report on
Selected Performance Indicators
We have undertaken a limited assurance engagement on selected performance indicators, as described below, and
presented in the 2014–15 Annual Report of the South African National AIDS Council (SANAC) Trust for the year ended
31 March 2015 (the Report).
SUBJECT MATTER
We are required to provide limited assurance on the following performance indicators, prepared in accordance with
the 2014–15 Annual Performance Plan (APP), Technical Indicator Descriptions as published in the APP as well as any
internally generated policies and procedures where necessary.
Programme

Performance indicator

Page

Number of SANAC Trust reports with recommendations to improve NSP programmes
Programme 3: NSP Implementation

Number of NSP programmes launched

21

Number of successful World AIDS/TB Day events conducted
Annual Monitoring and Evaluation Report published
Programme 4: Monitoring and Evaluation

Global AIDS response progress reporting completed, submitted to UNAIDS and published
NSP midterm review published

22

Number of PCAs with annual M&E reports published
Application for additional funds submitted to Global Fund
Number of effective CCM meetings held
Programme 5: Donor Coordination

CCM dashboard – approved by CEO
Dashboard reports presented to CCM

22

Compliance of CCM against Global Fund governance prescripts evaluated
Number of costing TTT Reports published
Number of Plenary meetings
Programme 6: Government and
Civil Society Support

Number of Programme Review Committee Meetings
Number of Civil Society meetings

25

Number of IMC Meetings

TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITIES
The trustees are responsible for the selection, preparation and presentation of the performance indicators in accordance
with the 2014–15 APP, Technical Indicator Descriptions as published in the APP as well as any internally generated
policies and procedures where necessary. This responsibility includes the identification of stakeholders and stakeholder
requirements, material issues, for commitments with respect to sustainability performance and for the design,
implementation and maintenance of internal control relevant to the preparation of the Report that is free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
OUR INDEPENDENCE AND QUALITY CONTROL
We have complied with the Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants issued by the International Ethics Standards Board
for Accountants and the Code of Professional Conduct for Registered Auditors issued by the Independent Regulatory
Board for Auditors, which includes independence and other requirements founded on fundamental principles of integrity,
objectivity, professional competence and due care, confidentiality and professional behaviour.
In accordance with International Standard on Quality Control 1, ARC Chartered Accountants and Auditors
Incorporated maintains a comprehensive system of quality control including documented policies and procedures
regarding compliance with ethical requirements, professional standards and applicable legal and regulatory requirements.
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OUR RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express a limited assurance conclusion on the selected performance indicators based on the
procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained. We conducted our limited assurance engagement in
accordance with the International Standard on Assurance Engagements (ISAE) 3000, Assurance Engagements other than
Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information, issued by the International Auditing and Assurance Standards Board.
That Standard requires that we plan and perform our engagement to obtain limited assurance about whether the selected
performance indicators are free from material misstatement.
A limited assurance engagement undertaken in accordance with ISAE 3000 involves assessing the suitability in
the circumstances of the trust’s use of the 2014–2015 APP as the basis of preparation for the selected performance
indicators, assessing the risks of material misstatement of the selected performance indicators whether due to fraud
or error, responding to the assessed risks as necessary in the circumstances, and evaluating the overall presentation of
the selected performance indicators. A limited assurance engagement is substantially less in scope than a reasonable
assurance engagement in relation to both risk assessment procedures, including an understanding of internal control,
and the procedures performed in response to the assessed risks. The procedures we performed were based on our
professional judgement and included inquiries, observation of processes performed, inspection of documents, analytical
procedures, evaluating the appropriateness of quantification methods and reporting policies, and agreeing or reconciling
with underlying records.
Given the circumstances of the engagement, in performing the procedures listed above we:
• Obtained an understanding of:
– the entity and its environment;
– entity-level controls;
– the significant reporting processes including how information is initiated, recorded, processed, reported and
incorrect information is corrected, as well as the policies and procedures within the reporting process.
• Interviewed management, employees and those responsible for the preparation of the Report and the selected
actual performance, as we consider necessary.
• Inspected relevant supporting documentation and obtained such external confirmations and management
representations as we considered necessary for the purposes of our engagement.
• Performed analytical procedures and limited tests of detail responsive to our risk assessment and the level of assurance required, including comparison of judgmentally selected information to the underlying source documentation from which the information has been derived.
The procedures performed in a limited assurance engagement vary in nature from, and are less in extent than for, a reasonable assurance engagement. As a result the level of assurance obtained in a limited assurance engagement is substantially lower than the assurance that would have been obtained had we performed a reasonable assurance engagement.
Accordingly, we do not express a reasonable assurance opinion about whether the trust’s selected performance indicators
have been prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the 2014-15 APP, Technical Indicator Descriptions as
published in the APP as well as any internally generated policies and procedures where necessary.
LIMITED ASSURANCE CONCLUSION
Based on the procedures we have performed and the evidence we have obtained, nothing has come to our attention that
causes us to believe that:
• The selected performance indicators as set out in the subject matter paragraph for the year ended 31 March 2015
are not prepared and presented, in all material respects, in accordance with the 2014–2015 APP and related
Technical Indicator Descriptions included in the APP.
• The actual performance reported for the selected performance indicators as set out in the subject matter paragraph
does not reflect the performance of the trust for the year ended 31 March 2015.
OTHER MATTERS
Our report does not extend to any disclosures or assertions relating to future performance plans and/or strategies disclosed
in the Report.
The maintenance and integrity of the SANAC trust website is the responsibility of the trust’s management. Our
procedures did not involve consideration of these matters and, accordingly we accept no responsibility for any changes
to either the information in the Report or our independent assurance report that may have occurred since the initial date
of presentation on the SANAC trust website.
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RESTRICTION OF LIABILITY
Our work has been undertaken to enable us to express a limited assurance conclusion on the selected performance
indicators to the trustees of SANAC trust in accordance with the terms of our engagement, and for no other purpose.
We do not accept or assume liability to any party other than SANAC trust, for our work, for this report, or for the
conclusion we have reached.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
ARC Chartered Accountants and Auditors Incorporated
Registered Chartered Accountants and Auditors (S.A.)
Per: F. van Heerden CA(SA)/RA
Pretoria
29 July 2015

PERFORMANCE AGAINST PREDETERMINED OBJECTIVES
PROGRAMME 1: GOVERNANCE AND ADMINISTRATION
Governance by Trustees
In May 2014, Mr Cyril Ramaphosa replaced Mr Kgalema Motlanthe as Deputy President of the Republic of South
Africa and as the Chairperson of the South African National AIDS Council. This represents an important change for the
Trust as the Deputy President is the founder of the Trust and appoints Trustees in terms of the Trust Deed. Numerous
meetings have been held between the Chairperson of the Trust, the CEO and the Deputy President. The mandate of
the Trust is being reviewed and the Trustees have agreed to clarify the objects of the Trust to focus on coordination of,
support for, monitoring of and resource mobilisation for the National Strategic Plan. The term of office of the current
Trustees expires in September 2015 and the Office of the Deputy President is in the process of appointing Trustees for
the next two year period.
The SANAC Trustees met four times during this financial year and have balanced their time between governance
and administration and strategic and risk discussions. The Trust is now fully compliant with legislative requirements.
Although the Trust meetings have always had a quorum there is a concern with the regular attendance of some Trustees
to the meetings.
External Audit
The SANAC Trust underwent its third external audit for the 2014/2015 financial year. The audit opinion was unqualified.
This is the third consecutive unqualified audit of the Trust. The audited financial statements were approved by the
Trustees on 24 July 2015.
Economic Viability
The Trust started the accounting period with approximately R30 million in reserves; it received R30 million income
and spent R35 million. At the reporting date the Trust had R25 million in reserve. This reserve will be maintained to
ensure the liquidity and viability of the Trust, as Treasury funds are transferred in the third quarter of the financial year.
The same level of government funding has been secured though this is inadequate to meet the core costs of the Trust.
A submission has been made to the NDoH and the Treasury for additional funds but all indications are that additional
funds are unlikely given the difficult fiscal environment.
Spending trends
In the previous financial year the Trust expensed R39 million of which just over R7 million were donations in kind. In
the year under review the Trust spent R35 million inclusive of donations in kind.
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Donations in kind decreased by about 30%. This is a sign that the Trust has built its own capacity and is no longer
dependent on partners for seconded capacity.
The procurement and administration systems are in place and managed within the Secretariat. The financial systems
are functioning effectively and are maintained and updated regularly.
The key priorities during the next financial year will include developing a performance management system
anticipated to be put in place after a benchmarking exercise has been completed. An expansion of the organisational
structure to accommodate new priorities as well as staff training is planned for next year. The Trustees have approved a
review of medical aid and pension benefits for staff.
Transfer Payments
The core budget for the Trust is transferred from the Treasury via the Health Vote. A transfer agreement has been signed
with the NDoH for R15 million per year. In the 2015 financial year, the SANAC Trust funds have been earmarked in the
Budget Book. In addition, future application for additional funds is now standardised through the budgeting cycle, which
the Trust accesses through the Health Vote.
Donor Funding to SANAC Trust
In this financial year, a grant to the value of R2.7 million was received from DFID. All funds have been spent and a report
has been submitted to the donor. A new proposal for additional funding in the 2015 financial year for an amount of R6
million has been submitted and approved by DFID.
An application was made to the US Government’s Centre for Disease Control (CDC). This application has been
approved and the Trust received an official Notice of Award for the first year for an amount of R7 560 000. R3.5 million
was spent from this grant in the current financial year and the remainder has been rolled over to the next financial year.
A separate Trust account has been opened for these funds to meet the requirements of the US Payment Management
System.
As an extension of our partnership with the German Corporation for Development, we have entered into a grant
agreement with GIZ to the value of R20 million over a period of three years, although funds are approved on a yearly
basis. An amount of R6.9 million was received for the current financial period of which R3.6 million was spent and the
remainder was rolled over to the next financial period. Separate bank accounts were opened for the administration of
this grant.
Interest and VAT
The Trust has now optimised its returns on investment without putting Trust funds at risk. The Trust is now registered
for VAT. A VAT return is submitted every two months allowing the Trust to claim back VAT, from SARS. This is reflected
in the Annual Financial Statements.The following targets have been achieved during this financial year:
Strategic objective

Performance Indicator

Target

Comments on
Deviation

Achieved

1. Governance and Administration
Ensure the effective functioning of the trust
according to the prescripts of the trust deed and
appropriate legislation

Number of effective trustees meetings
Number of effective meetings of the audit and risk committee
Type of audit opinion by external auditor

Raise funds to finance activities of the SANAC
Trust

Amount of funds raised
Number of sources of income (diversification)

4

4

4

4

1

1

R25 mil
4

R30 mil
4

PROGRAMME 2: COMMUNICATIONS
The role of SANAC communications manager has been vacant for the biggest part of this financial year. The Secretariat
appointed a communications manager at the end of the financial year. She has already commenced with updating
the website, creating an interactive information management system, improving branding, visibility and a greater
digital presence (through social media platforms). A critical part of her role is to ensure that SANAC’s achievements,
knowledge and publications are well disseminated to increase the visibility and presence of SANAC in the HIV and
public health sector, both domestically and internationally. SANAC now has an active Twitter account. The Twitter
handle is @SA_AIDSCOUNCIL. The website is fully operational and currently undergoing its second review under the
new communications manager. Between April 2014 and March 2015 the SANAC Trust’s website had 3.3 million hits and
66 834 unique visitors.
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Table 1: SANAC Website User Statistics
Month

Unique visitors

Number of visits

Pages

Hits

Bandwidth (GB)

Apr 2014

4 475

6 975

33 555

215 976

5,25

May 2014

5 223

8 378

43 597

253 775

5,97

Jun 2014

4 542

7 380

34 196

210 677

5,47

Jul 2014

4 646

7 615

37 189

239 053

6,78

Aug 2014

5 155

8 294

38 617

273 433

7,32

Sep 2014

6 057

10 076

49 565

309 073

6,58

Oct 2014

5 823

9 713

41 738

299 399

7,39

Nov 2014

5 995

9 583

45 899

392 302

11,51

Dec 2014

4 677

7 706

36 225

266 173

11,45

Jan 2015

4 905

8 372

38 402

269 362

10,33

Feb 2015

5 081

7 977

33 304

272 354

10,67

Mar 2015

6 255

9 400

38 722

302 256

12,04

101 469

471 009

330 3833

100,76

Total

62 834

Four SANAC News editions were published during this financial year. A special World AIDS Day edition was disseminated
during the World AIDS Day event in Welkom on 1 December 2014.
The Secretariat had nine publications this financial year. All publications can be viewed on the SANAC website.
SANAC’s World Aids Day theme for 2014 was ‘Zero Stigma, Zero Discrimination’. A series of videos and other
promotional materials were produced for the campaign. Participants sharing their stories were all PLHIV who at some
point faced stigma and/or discrimination while living with HIV. All the videos can be viewed on the SANAC website. A
communication toolkit with information on how to use the different materials during the campaign has also been shared
with all stakeholders (government, private sector and civil society).
The campaign continued beyond World AIDS Day for sustained impact. DFID has committed additional funds for
the scale up of this campaign during July and August 2015.

There has been good media coverage of SANAC events throughout the year including the SANAC Plenaries in Modimolle
and Secunda, World AIDS Day in Welkom and World TB Day in Klerksdorp. In addition, there was extensive reporting
of the National Sex Worker Consultation held in January 2015. The following targets have been achieved during this
financial year:
Strategic objective

Performance Indicator

Target

Achieved

Comments on deviation

2. Communication
To effectively communicate the NSP
progress and changes in the HIV
and TB epidemics to the public and
stakeholders and to communicate the
efforts of the trust.
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Number of SANAC News
published
Number of SANAC Trust
publications
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6

6

4

Issues 7, 8, 9 and 10. No full-time communications manager for FY 2014/15

9

Annual Report, APP, Strategic Plan, Estimating the size of the Sex Worker
Population in SA, GARP Report, NSP Progress Report, Gender Equality
Assessment of Provincial HIV, STIs and TB, Costing Provincial Implementation
Plans for HIV AIDS, STIs and TB, Updated financial gap analysis

Programme 3: nSP imPlementation
The following targets have been achieved during this financial year:
Strategic objective

Performance Indicator

Target

Achieved

Comments on deviation

3. NSP Implementation
Support NSP programmes
across all four strategic
objectives
Ensure successful World AIDS
Day and World TB Day events

Number of SANAC trust reports with recommendations to
improve NSP programmes

4

4

Annual Progress report, Gender Review, PWID
Roadmap, SBCC Report

Number of NSP programmes launched

2

3

TB 90/90/90 Strategy, National Sex Worker
Programme, Stigma Reduction Campaign

Number of successful World AIDS/TB Day events
conducted

2

2

Planning and Coordination
NSP Coordination is an essential function of the Trust. The coordination function has been enhanced by the joint work
done on the Investment Case with the NDoH and UNAIDS. Phase I of the Investment Case has now been completed
and the report will be used in the preparation of the budget bid for the next financial year across multiple government
departments, the amendments to the National Strategic Plan and the submission of the Global Fund Concept Note.
SANAC will commence work with HERO (Wits University) to further search the literature for effective interventions that
impact upon HIV outcomes such as gender based violence, social security, nutritional support, access to completion of
school and other social and structural drivers of HIV.
Young Women
The NSP Coordination Unit has commenced a process to develop a strategy to tackle prevention in young women. This
is now being seen as the highest priority for the country and is supported by both the Global Fund and PEPFAR. A sixth
Principal Recipient has signed an agreement with the Global Fund to reach 18 000 young women in informal settlements.
The first funds, facilitated by the Secretariat and the CCM, were disbursed to the principal recipient in the first quarter
of this year. The SANAC Trust is a co-signatory to the new grant agreement and monitors implementation and the flow
of funds on a regular basis. SANAC is in the process of developing a national HIV and AIDS operational framework and
implementation plan for young women and girls.
This draft strategy to reduce infections in young women has gone through two rounds of consultations during the
year under review. The draft strategy was used to inform the DREAMS proposal for South Africa, which is the most
ambitious project to date to tackle HIV in young women and the Global Fund Concept Note.
Key Populations
SANAC and the Trust have increased focus on key populations. The scale-up of the National Sex Worker Programme
(NSWP) has been a particular success and now reaches more than 30 000 sex workers through a peer education led
intervention that includes information, education, condom supply and promotion, lube, referral for ART and STI
treatment and HIV testing. The Secretariat has reconvened a technical working group to look at improvements to the
plan, to establish the status of the plan and to provide a roadmap for legal reform on sex work.
The Secretariat has worked and continues to work closely with the Sex Worker Sector to design and plan a NSWP
that is funded by the Global Fund. Programme implementation commenced in October 2013. The 18 NGOs working
on the new programme have recruited 560 peer educators at 56 national sites covering all nine provinces. Peer educators
who are current or former sex workers, provide HIV prevention education, distribute condoms and lubricants, HIV
counselling and testing, referrals to health services and legal support to sex workers. Funds for this programme have been
secured from the Global Fund, through the Country Coordinating Mechanism. This complements the work done by the
Department of Health to reach sex workers through the High Transmission Areas (HTA) Programme and the PEPFAR
funded programmes.
The Secretariat has developed a road map for developing a policy and a programme for Injecting Drug Users and has
met and initiated a process with the Central Drug Authority and the Department of Social Development to review the
policy on HIV and injecting drug use.
Stigma Reduction
The PLHIV Stigma Index was completed in March 2015 by the PLHIV sector and HSRC. The results from the survey
indicated significant relevance and occurrence of internalised stigma experienced by PLHIV. Having this information and
understanding the trends in terms of stigma and discrimination will help South Africa better address the HIV, TB and STI
epidemics.
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Following the Stigma Index, SANAC signed a Memorandum of Understanding with Legal Aid SA with the purpose of
promoting access to justice for vulnerable groups, especially to persons living with HIV/AIDS and TB, to create a linkage
between Legal Aid SA and SANAC`s collaborating partners and to provide quality legal advice and services in matters
relating to HIV/AIDS and TB stigma and discrimination. In a bid to improve access to legal services for individuals living
with HIV/AIDS and TB, through the HIV/AIDS and TB Legal Programme driven by Webber Wentzel, SECTION27
(Incorporating the AIDS Law Project) and the International Labour Organisation (ILO). Through this partnership,
SANAC intends to enhance the legal services of Legal Aid SA by incorporating the programme within its civil legal aid
plan. The primary aim of the programme is to provide and facilitate access to quality legal services; largely pertaining to
HIV/AIDS and TB related stigma and discrimination.
The AIDS Consortium was appointed to develop a model for the stigma reduction programme in the Eastern Cape.
This project is funded by GIZ. The project commenced in March 2015 with expected completion in November 2015.
The goal from this programme pilot in the Eastern Cape is to roll out a stigma reduction programme across South Africa.
Migrant and Mobile Populations
Working with the ILO, the Secretariat has made initial progress in terms of supporting the country’s response to migrant
and mobile populations. SANAC Trust’s achievements have included fostering dialogue between government, civil society
and other stakeholders through the establishment of a national forum on migrant and mobile populations as well as a
technical working group.
HCT Campaign
The Secretariat has provided support to the NDoH to implement the re-launched HCT campaign. HCT levels have
declined in the last financial year leading to a decision of the SANAC Plenary to revitalise the HCT campaign. The
Secretariat has run HCT revitalisation workshops in seven of the nine provinces and also co-chairs the NDoH HCT
campaign nerve centre. The HCT campaign was re-launched on WAD 2013 with the Deputy President publicly taking
a test for HIV.
PROGRAMME 4: MONITORING AND EVALUATION
Monitoring and Evaluation
The M&E function of the Trust is now established with two staff members at the Secretariat and a further six staff in
the Provincial Council on AIDS. The first ever NSP Progress Report was published in October 2014 and work has
commenced on the mid-term review (MTR) of the NSP. The Global AIDS Response Progress (GARP) Report was finalised
and submitted to the Minister of Health and regular on-line reporting to UNAIDS HQ is done every six months. M&E
support has been provided to the PCAs. This includes staff and an M&E Capacity Assessment for each province.
The following targets have been achieved during this financial year:
Strategic objective

Performance Indicator

Target

Achieved

Comments on deviation

Annual monitoring and evaluation report published

1

1

Global AIDS response progress reporting
completed, submitted to UNAIDS and published

1

0

Submitted to Minister but not published on the
SANAC website.

NSP mid-term review published

1

0

On-going, to be completed 2015, review launched,
steering committee appointed, contractors appointed.

Number of PCAs with annual M&E reports
published

8

0

The reports were published on 20th May 2015 after
end of the reporting period

4. Monitoring and Evaluation
To monitor progress of the NSP and
to fulfil international reporting
requirements

To develop and implement a provincial
M&E system for monitoring the NSP
implementation at a provincial level

Programme 5: Donor CoorDination
The Global Fund
The Trust supports the Country Coordinating Mechanism (CCM) responsible for the overall management of the Global
Fund grant in South Africa. The management team is heavily invested in the Global Fund grants. It manages the CCM,
puts together the proposals, countersigns all grant agreement and has a heavy oversight responsibility and a significant
role in the monitoring and evaluation of the grant. The process of submitting the Concept Note to the Global Fund for
the next three-year cycle of funding has commenced in the year under review. The submission deadline is 15 July 2015.
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The following targets have been achieved during this financial year:
Strategic objective

Performance Indicator

Target

Achieved

Comments on Deviation

5. Donor co-ordination

To raise and effectively
manage resources from the
Global Fund

To inform Treasury and donor
funding regarding allocation
for HIV and TB programmes

Application for additional funds
submitted to Global Fund

Preparation for
concept note

Number of effective CCM
meetings held

4

CCM dashboard developed and
approved by CEO

CCM dashboard
operationalised and
implemented

Dashboard reports presented
to CCM
Compliance of CCM against
Global Fund governance
prescripts evaluated

4

Number of costing TTT reports
published

2

N/A

5

Invitation for next concept note due date 15 July 2015. Application, Country
Dialogue completed, CCM priorities set, invitation for applications for PR’s
completed, programme sector consultations completed Investment Case
completed, Consultations with Government Departments completed,
Consultation with Minister of Health completed, Oversight committee
reports completed, Expenditure analysis completed, All operations fully up
to date
Special meeting for Concept Note prioritisation in Q4

Achieved
4

80%

80%
0

Documents are finalised, awaiting approval before publishing

The Secretariat had five successful CCM meetings during the year under review. A new representative was elected to
represent people affected by TB – a person who has been diagnosed and is still on treatment for multi-drug resistant
tuberculosis. The unit also hosted a delegation from the Tanzanian AIDS Commission.
The chair of the CCM (together with the National Department of Health National TB Control Programme Manager)
is now part of the Regional CCM for the regional TB in the mines concept note, which was submitted to the GF at the
end of January 2015 and hence participated in the consultations and development of the concept note with input from
development partners and other key stakeholders. USD 30 million dollars has been approved for this purpose, a portion
of which will address the needs of ex-mineworkers in South Africa.
The country hosted Dr Mark Dybul, the Executive Director of the Global Fund in January 2015, who attended the
Sex worker programme dialogue and met with the Minister of Health and the DDG of HIV, TB and MCH as well as the
Premier of KZN.
The CCM team has been improving the collection, collation and analysis of data through the dashboards that is
completed by the Global Fund Principal Recipients quarterly reports.
The Oversight Committee has reviewed the performance of all six principal recipients and produced a dashboard
report to the full CCM meeting. The Investment Case project has been launched to inform the next submission to the
Global Fund. This process includes hundreds of people through extensive consultation on the priorities for the country
and the content of the next Global Fund submission. It will result in a re-costing of the National Strategic Plan.
120 000 000
101 764 798
100 000 000
88 197 973
80 305 991

US dollars

80 000 000

60 000 000
37 118 089

40 000 000

20 000 000

0

18 466 689
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Table 1 – Disbursements to Principal Recipients, April 2014 to March 2015
SAF-304-G04-H
(WCDOH)

SAF-H-NACOSA

SAF-H- NDoH

SAF-H-RTC

SAF-H-NRASD

SAF-H-SCI

Sub-Total

April 2014

7 540 778.00

16 162 665.00

–

–

–

–

23 703 443.00

May 2014

–

–

–

7 938 508.00

828 061.00

–

8 766 569.00

June 2014

–

–

18 112 260.00

–

–

1 744 933.00

19 857 193.00

July 2014

–

–

–

–

–

–

0.00

August 2014

–

–

–

–

45 173.20

–

45 173.20

September 2014

–

–

–

–

–

–

0.00

October 2014

–

–

–

–

2 355 493.00

–

2 355 493.00

2 698 407.00

–

–

–

–

582 241.00

3 280 648.00

November 2014
December 2014

–

–

28 866 000.00

–

2 955 451.00

–

31 821 451.00

January 2015

–

–

–

–

–

–

0.00

2 709 870.00

2 600 000.00

–

4 607 160.00

–

200 000.00

10 117 030.00

February 2015
March 2015
TOTAL

–

–

–

–

1 908 145.00

–

1 908 145.00

12 949 055.00

18 762 665.00

46 978 260.00

12 545 668.00

8 092 323.20

2 527 174.00

101 855 145.20

Private Sector Strategy
In our efforts to engage with the private sector we continue to work with a small group of interested parties to develop
a tool for the collection of data from the private sector to better represent the contribution of the private sector to the
implementation of the NSP. We also appointed a consultant to develop a private sector engagement strategy. This process
is well underway and expected to be completed in the next few months.
In the period 1 April 2014 to the end of March 2015, 101.7 million USD has been disbursed by the GF to the PRs;
demonstrating steady consistent access to funds from the Global Fund in part due to the work of the secretariat and
Oversight Committee. This is the highest level of disbursement in one year since the start of the Global Fund in South
Africa.
Costing Technical Task Team
The Secretariat has established a Costing Technical Task Team consisting of the leading health economists, costing experts
and scientists to guide and review the work of the Secretariat in concluding a ‘financial gap analysis’. The Costing TTT is
deliberating further financial analysis and costing work in respect of the Investment Case, the Sex Worker Programme,
the Global Fund Concept Note and current government spending on HIV and TB.
PEPFAR
The Secretariat is part of the South African Government Team that reviews the US Government’s PEPFAR investments in
South Africa amounting to 500 million USD per year. This work is led by the Senior Advisor in the Office of the Deputy
President. The SANAC Trust management team is responsible for the prevention work stream, which is one of four
work streams in the partnership. The aim of this work stream is to develop and constantly refine the PEPFAR Prevention
Strategy so that it is aligned with SA Government HIV and AIDS priorities and then to slowly change the profile of
programmes funded, to align with the NSP.
The co-management work with PEPFAR in respect of the Prevention Work Stream started in earnest in the first
quarter of this financial year with a joint SANAC-PEPFAR review of all the prevention projects funded by both CDC and
USAID. Two sub-groups have been established to deal with priority setting for PEPFAR Prevention Funding.

24

South African National AIDS Council (SANAC) Trust

Programme 6: government anD Civil SoCietY SUPPort
This unit works closely with government departments, civil society sectors and development partners to provide
secretarial and technical support in all programme areas relating to the NSP. The Trust works with the Office of the
Deputy President and DPSA to strengthen coordination within government. The main mechanism for this is the
SANAC Inter Ministerial Committee.
The Trust works closely with the National Department of Health which has led the scale up of the largest antiretroviral
treatment programme in the world. The NDoH is the main donor of core funding to the Trust and the relationship is
formalised through a Service Level Agreement. The NDoH donated office accommodation and telephony services to
the Trust for the year under review.
The DG:Health chairs the SANAC Programme Review Committee and the Minister of Health chairs the NSP
Financing Committee. The NDoH takes a lead role in all SANAC meetings and events. Collaboration between the Trust
and the NDoH extends across multiple areas of policy, planning, coordination, implementation, monitoring, resource
mobilisation and donor coordination. Joint work between the NDoH and the Trust on the Global Fund programme
has yielded substantial funding for the Department and joint efforts have led to funding for ART buffer stock and
direct distribution services. The Trust, through its work on the CCM has been able to raise funds for the roll out of
the Minister of Health’s vision for TB focussing on mines, peri-mining communities, correctional service facilities and
MDR TB.
The Trust has commenced work with the Department of Social Development in respect of addressing social drivers
of HIV in young women, substance abuse, gender based violence, stigma, orphans and vulnerable children and the
disabled. Specific work has commenced with the Department of Social Development and the Central Drug Authority
with respect to substance abuse and HIV and people who inject drugs.
The Trust works with the Departments of Basic Education and Higher Education on a number of projects that are
mostly related to funding raised by the Trust from the Global Fund, PEPFAR and other donors. The Trust’s management
team coordinate the DREAMS initiative which is funded by PEPFAR and involves multiple departments including
Health, Social Development, Basic and Higher Education and Women.
The Trust has increased its collaboration with the Departments of Justice and Constitutional Development in the
areas of legislative reform, stigma reduction, human rights and legal assistance. The Deputy Minister of Justice chairs
the SANAC Human Rights Technical Task Team. The work of this committee has led to the signing of an agreement with
Legal AID South Africa under which the public would receive free legal support for any cases of HIV discrimination.
The Trust will fund the training of Legal AID SA staff, the development of a manual and the advertising of the service.
The work of this committee has also led to the Stigma Index Survey in which 10 000 PLHIV were interviewed and a
national campaign to address both external and internalised stigma.
Provincial AIDS Councils
Provincial Councils on AIDS (PCAs) have been established in various forms in all nine provinces. Five of these PCAs
are chaired by the respective Premiers (Gauteng, KwaZulu-Natal, Limpopo, Mpumalanga and the Northern Cape). In
the Eastern Cape, Free State and Western Cape the PCAs have been delegated to the MECs for Health to chair. The
North West PCA has been established as a public entity in the office of the Premier. All nine provinces have developed
Provincial Strategic Plans (PSPs), which are aligned to the National Strategic Plan on HIV, TB and STIs 2012–2016.
These PSPs have been developed in consultation with key stakeholders and have been communicated widely.
All PCAs exist in terms of the legal authority of provincial governments and all, with the exception of Limpopo,
receive core funding from their respective provincial government. Broad challenges faced by the PCAs are human
and financial resource constraints, as well as weak coordination. The SANAC Trust continues to support the PCAs to
address these challenges on an on-going basis. The Trust made a substantial investment in money, time and people
in support of the North West PCA especially in addressing financial management challenges in the Council. This has
yielded positive results and their first unqualified audit in 13 years.
The Trust provided short term financial support and technical assistance to the Limpopo Provincial Government
to set up its provincial aids council and supported the establishment of the Mpumalanga Council on AIDS. MoU’s
with clear roles, expectations and deliverables have been signed with both PCA’s. The secretariat is currently providing
continuous support with the hope that this support model can be replicated in the other provinces to ensure well
governed and managed PCAs, nationally.
The management team has been working with the KZN PCA to prepare its proposal to the Global Fund. This is
aimed at using the Operation Sukuma Sakhe model to strengthen HIV prevention in the province. The CCM supports
the Western Cape PCA and Department of Health with its management of a grant from the Global Fund.
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The following targets have been achieved during this financial year:
Strategic objective

Performance Indicator

Target

Achieved

Comments on
Deviation

6. Government and Civil Society Support
Ensure meaningful and effective participation of all
stakeholders in trust structures at the national level

Number of plenary meetings

2

2

Number of programme review committee meetings

2

2

Support to civil society organisations

Number of civil society meetings

4

6

Support to government

Number of IMC meetings

2

1

SANAC hosted World AIDS and TB Days in partnership with the National Department of Health during this financial year.
The Department of Social Development hosted the disability sector leaders meeting to discuss and address key challenges
faced by the sector and to elect new leadership. SANAC is also providing ongoing support for the implementation of
the National HIV and TB policy of the Department of Basic Education. The Department of Justice and Constitutional
Development chairs the SANAC Legal and Human Rights Technical Task Team and is very involved in all legal and
human rights initiatives.
DFID signed a grant agreement with SANAC worth R5.8 million for the Stigma Reduction Campaign, which was
officially launched at the SA AIDS Conference in Durban in June 2015. We have also been working closely with the
SA UNAIDS office on the youth summit that was held earlier this financial year, the strategic planning workshop with
SANAC Traditional Leaders sector and on-going technical support and assistance to civil society sectors through the
Civil Society Support unit. We also reached an agreement with the agriculture sector to review their HIV and TB policy
in collaboration with the IOM, who will fund a size estimation study of migrant and mobile populations including
farmworkers.
A major achievement in the year under review was the commissioning of the PLHIV Stigma Index with the HSRC
and PLHIV sector. The Stigma Index report is currently being finalised and will be launched in May 2015. The Trust also
supported the PLHIV Sector with technical and financial support. In-depth organisational capacity assessments were
conducted at TAC, NAPWA and PWN to identify gaps where the Trust can provide support going forward (technical
assistance and capacity building to strengthen management systems and increase financial credibility).
The Civil Society Forum requested a capacity needs assessment and the Board requested a review of the Civil Society
grants. KPMG has been appointed to assess current functionality of the SANAC CS Sectors and identify organisational and
programme implementation capacity gaps and needs to deliver on the CSS goals. The review is anticipated to be finalised
by the end of May 2015 and will provide an independent analysis and recommendation for the Board on the strategy
for civil society. This report will include a budget of the financial requirements to implement the recommendations from
KPMG.
There was good coordination in the run up to the April Plenary. The Civil Society Forum and Programme Review
Committee were held sequentially to allow for civil society issues to be processed through the PRC before the Plenary
agenda was finalised.
Programme Review Committee (PRC)
The PRC is one of the most important committees of SANAC. The management team has ensured that the preparations
for the PRC meetings and the technical quality of submissions meets a high standard. There have been four meetings of
the PRC and it has considered the following policy and programme issues: DBE HIV and TB Policy; Stigma Index Survey;
Access to legal services for PLHIV; National Sex Worker Programme (NSWP); Alcohol and HIV; Alcohol advertising and
NDoH HIV prevention strategy.
The Secretariat is supported in the work of policy reform and programme implementation by technical task teams
(TTT) that review evidence and provide guidance to prioritise policy reforms and programme management issues
before tabling at the PRC. Three technical task teams are managed by the Secretariat, including the appointment of TTT
members, preparation of documentation, logistics of meetings and facilitation of electronic communications.
Civil Society Support
During the year under review, the SANAC Trust managed to make a number of grants to partners and civil society
organisations. These include civil society grants to the LGBTI, Men, Women, Sports, Arts and Culture and Children’s
sectors. The grants were provided to support coordination, fundraising and planning within the respective sectors. Seven
applications for funding were received and adjudicated and five applications were approved. The value of the grants was
R250 000. The majority of the grants have been closed, with the exception of the Men and Women’s sectors.
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A project was initiated to support Sisonke, the national grassroots sex worker movement, set up as an independent
organisation. Sisonke is currently a programme within SWEAT. Significant progress has been made with the preparation
of registration documents and developing management and governance systems and documents. It is anticipated to have
Sisonke registered and fully functional by December 2015.
The Secretariat provided technical capacity building support to the following civil society sectors: PLHIV, LGBTI,
Sports, Arts and Culture, Children, Sex work and men’s sector.
An extensive consultation involving more than 200 participants from government, civil society and the private sector
was held to inform and gain inputs to the Investment Case. Inputs from these consultations shaped the outcome of the
Investment Case Findings. This will inform the next NSP, PEPFAR and Global Fund Programmes and the allocations to
be made by the Treasury for both HIV and TB, nationally.
SUMMARY OF FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Revenue collection
Revenue is recognised to the extent that it is probable that the economic benefits will flow to SANAC Trust and revenue
can be reliably measured. Revenue is measured at fair value of the consideration receivable on an accrual basis. It includes
investment and non-operating income exclusive of value-added taxation, rebates and discounts. Income received during
the accounting period consisted of a designated grant of R15.6 million from the NDoH, a grant of R2.8 million from
DFID, a R3.5 million grant from CDC, a R3.6 million grant from GIZ, R3.8 million from non-exchange transactions with
various donors and interest received from investments worth R1.7 million.
Table 2: Revenue Collection
2014/2015
Sources of revenue

2013/2014

Estimated
R’000

Actual amount
collected
R’000

(Over)/ Under
Collection
R’000

Estimated
R’000

Actual amount
collected
R’000

(Over)/ Under
Collection
R’000

1 544
15 000
16 544

2 751
15 561
3 838
3 543
3 818
1 733
31 244

-955
-959
-3 594
-3 543
-3 818
-1 733
-14 602

2 499
15 000
17 499

2 499
15 959
4 974
1 525
24 957

-958
-4 974
-1 525
-7 457

DFID
NDoH
GIZ
CDC
Goods and Services in Kind
Interest Received
Total

Programme expenditure
The main driver of unexpected cost was the recognition of non-exchange transactions resulting from donations of goods
and services from various donors. The donations were recognised in income along with the corresponding capitalisation
of assets or recognition of expenses relating to the type of non-exchange transaction. These expenses along with their
income cannot be budgeted for as they are at the discretion of various donors and partners. Therefore, no adjustment was
made in the budget from 2013/2014 to 2014/2015.
Table 3: Programme Expenditure
2014/2015

2013/2014

Programme name

Budget
R’000

Actual Expenditure
R’000

(Over)/ Under Expenditure
R’000

Remuneration
Governance and Administration
Communications
NSP Coordination
Inter-Gov. & Sector Support
Monitoring & Evaluation
Donor Coordination
Total

9 379
2 788
5 780
4 120
3 038
5 205
2 671
32 981

12 620
3 546
4 382
4 865
3 561
4 220
2 290
35 484

-3 241
-758
1 398
-745
-523
985
381
-2 503

Budget Actual Expenditure
R’000
R’000
7 220
4 902
1 569
8 487
5 936
0
2 836
30 950

12 873
5 222
3 934
11 301
3 121
0
2 915
39 366

(Over)/ Under
Expenditure
R’000
-5 653
-329
-2 364
-2 814
2 814
0
-79
-8 425
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THE ACCOUNTING AUTHORITY/THE BOARD OF TRUSTEES
Introduction
In February 2013, a new Board of Trustees was appointed by the Deputy President of South Africa in his capacity as
Chairperson of the SANAC Trust. The new Trust Deed has been registered with the Master of the North Gauteng High
Court and new Trustees registered in September 2013.
Roles and Responsibilities of the Board of Trustees
The roles and responsibilities of the Trustees are stated in the Trust Deed.
Trust Deed
The Trust is governed by the Trust Property Control Act 57 of 1988 and the Trust Deed that paves the way forward in
which the Trust must be governed.
The Trust was established in 2002. The Trust Deed was comprehensively amended during the course of 2012 and the
new Trust Deed was approved by the Trustees, the Deputy President and Minister of Health in the first quarter of 2013. In
May 2013, the Trust Deed was also approved by the Minister of Finance and the SARS Commissioner. The Deed as well
as the documents relating to the change of Trustees has been registered with the Master of the High Court.
Composition of the Board of Trustees
Trustees were appointed in writing by the Deputy President in February 2013 and registered with the North Gauteng
High Court in September 2013.
Table 4: Composition of the Board of Trustees
Name

Designation (in terms of SANAC Trust’s Board structure)

Date appointed

Dr T Mbengashe
Dr N Simelela
Rev. D Lambrechts
Mr YA Abramjee
Dr A Ntsaluba
Advocate Z Yacoob
Ms ME Letsike

Trustee
Trustee
Trustee
Trustee
Trustee
Chairperson of the Trustees
Trustee

November 2010
November 2010
November 2010
September 2013
September 2013
September 2013
September 2013

Dr BA Brink

Trustee

September 2013

Ms TJ Majokweni
Ms NP Mabele
Ms V Dubula-Majola

Trustee
Trustee
Trustee

September 2013
September 2013
September 2013

Board Committees
During the 2014/15 financial year, the following sub-committees were established:
Table 5: Committees of the Board of Trustees
Committee
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No of Meetings held

No of members

Names of members

Audit and Risk Committee

5

6

Ms Monique Malan
Mr Siyabonga Jikwana
Dr Brian Brink
Ms Thembeka Mtetwa
Mr Sikkie Kajee
Dr Brian Chicksen

Remuneration Committee

0

3

Dr Thobile Mbengashe
Advocate Zak Yacoob
Dr. Ayanda Ntsaluba
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RISK MANAGEMENT
The process of risk management entails the identification of key risks along with risk evaluation and risk mitigating
strategies. Risks are evaluated based on their inherency and the effectiveness of controls to mitigate. Any gap between
the accepted level of risk and the residual risk after mitigating strategies is investigated and additional controls and
procedures are implemented to bring all risk to an acceptable level.
A risk assessment workshop took place during this reporting period and a Risk Register has been completed. The
Internal Audit Plan will be based on findings in the Risk Register, addressing key risks and reviewing effectiveness of
control over risk.
The Audit and Risk Committee has reviewed the Risk Management procedures of the Trust and their findings are
outlined in the report of the Audit and Risk Committee below.
INTERNAL AUDIT AND AUDIT COMMITTEES
The purpose of the Internal Audit is to review the effective functioning of internal controls. They report to the Chief
Executive Officer and the Audit and Risk Committee on all matters relating to internal control and any challenges that
the organisation faces relating thereto.
PricewaterhouseCoopers was appointed as the Internal Auditors and the internal audit has been successfully
completed. The Internal Auditors assisted in the completion of the risk register and the reporting period’s internal control
plan was based on this risk register. Their reports were reviewed by the Audit and Risk Committee. The report of the
Audit and Risk Committee contains a review of the internal control function.
FRAUD AND CORRUPTION
A comprehensive Fraud and Corruption policy has been developed and implemented. No issues were identified during
the year.
MINIMISING CONFLICTS OF INTEREST
All staff has been advised of the need to declare any conflicts of interest in the course of any procurement that they may be
involved in. All staff has been asked to sign declarations of interest as required by the HR Policy. All suppliers are required
to disclose any conflicts of interest in order to register on the Supplier Data Base.
CODE OF CONDUCT
A code of conduct has been developed and implemented. All new staff is made aware of the Code of Conduct and agrees
to commit to it in their contract of employment.
HealtH, SaFetY anD environmental iSSUeS
The SANAC Trust complies with Health and Safety Laws and Regulations. As at the end of the reporting period the Trust
is residing in the National Department of Health the functions of workplace safety is administrated by the department.
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rePort oF tHe aUDit anD riSK Committee For tHe Year enDeD 31 marCH 2015
We are pleased to present our report for the financial period ended 31 March 2015.
Functions of the Audit and Risk Committee
The Audit and Risk Committee (“the Committee”) is a committee of the Board of Trustees. It assists the Board of Trustees
through advising and making submissions on financial reporting, oversight of the risk management process and internal
financial controls, external and internal audit functions and statutory compliance of SANAC Trust.
Composition and meetings
At 31 March 2015, the Committee consisted of six independent non-executive members. The Audit and Risk Committee
Charter (“the Charter”) requires the Committee to hold at least four meetings per annum. At 31 March 2015, the
committee held four meetings on the following dates: 23 May 2014, 25 July 2014, 13 November 2014 and 12 March
2015. The composition of the Committee as well as attendance at the meetings were as follows:
Name

Period served

Number of meetings held

Number of meetings attended

Monique Malan (Chairperson)
Dr Brian Brink (Trustee)
Brian Chicksen
Siyabonga Jikwana
Sikkie Kajee
Thembeka Mthethwa

1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015
1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015
1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015
1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015
1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015
1 April 2014 to 31 March 2015

4
4
4
4
4
4

4
3
2
1
2
2

The Chief Executive Officer, the Chief Financial Officer and representatives of the external and internal auditors attend
the Committee meetings by invitation. The internal and external auditors have unrestricted access to the Committee.
Subsequent to the end of the financial year, the Committee has held meetings during May and July 2015 for the purposes
of reviewing the annual financial statements, the draft report of the external auditor and the draft management report.
Duties
The Committee has adopted formal terms of reference as its Charter, which is reviewed regularly. The Committee operates
in accordance with the Charter and has executed its duties during the period in accordance with its terms of reference. In
addition to its delegated duties referred to below, the Committee made the following submissions to the Board of Trustees
on matters relating to:
• The legal structure of SANAC Trust and whether it should be a public sector or private sector entity;
• Recommending new independent auditors for SANAC Trust;
• Non-disclosure of conflict of interest of a contractor;
• Exclusion of the SANAC Trust budget from the NDoH budget during the MTEF process;
• Combining the Finance Committee and the Audit and Risk Committee.
Oversight of risk management
The Committee received assurance from management that the process and procedures followed in terms of acceptable
risk management procedures are adequate to ensure that financial risks are identified and monitored.The Committee has
satisfied itself that the following areas have been appropriately addressed:
• Financial reporting risks;
• Internal financial controls;
• Fraud risks as it relates to financial reporting; and
• IT risks as it relates to financial reporting.
Internal financial control
The system of controls within SANAC Trust is designed to provide reasonable assurance that assets are safeguarded
and that liabilities and working capital are properly managed. An internal audit function provides the Committee and
management with assurance that the internal controls are appropriate and effective. The Committee has:
• Reviewed and recommended the internal audit charter and annual plan for approval;
• Evaluated the independence, effectiveness and performance of the internal audit function and compliance with its
mandate;
• Satisfied itself that the internal audit function has the required resources, budget, standing and authority to enable
it to discharge its functions;

32

South African National AIDS Council (SANAC) Trust

• Reviewed the effectiveness of SANAC Trust’s system of internal financial controls, including receiving assurance
from management, internal audit and external audit;
• Reviewed significant issues raised by the internal and external audit process, the corrective actions identified and
suggested enhancements to the current controls and processes; and
• Reviewed policies and procedures for preventing and detecting fraud.
The Committee, however, noted that certain noteworthy deficiencies were identified by the auditors in the system of
internal control. The Committee notes management’s commitment to address these matters and will monitor management’s
progress in resolving these issues on a regular basis.
The Committee recognises that the financial function of the SANAC Trust has been built from a virtually non-existent
base and commends management on the progress that was made from the previous financial year in order to ensure
compliance with laws, regulations and good governance through establishing a robust internal control environment.
Evaluation of the annual financial statements and external audit
In execution of its statutory duties during the past financial period, the Committee has:
• Reviewed and discussed the draft annual financial statements with management before submission to the external
auditors;
• Reviewed and discussed the audited Annual Financial Statements to be included in the Annual Report with the
management and the external auditors;
• Reviewed the accounting policies and practices;
• Reviewed the external auditor’s management report and management responses, thereto;
• Reviewed the entity’s compliance with the legal and regulatory provisions; and
• Reviewed significant adjustments resulting from the audit.
Based on processes followed and assurance received, nothing has come to the Committee’s attention with regard to:
• Limitations in the external auditor’s independence; or
• Complaints relating to the accounting practices and internal audit of SANAC Trust, the content or auditing of its
financial statements, the internal financial controls of SANAC Trust, and any other related matters.
Regulatory compliance
The Committee is not aware of any matters of non-compliance relating to any applicable legal and regulatory
responsibilities.
Appreciation
We wish to acknowledge the dedication and hard work performed by management and other officials. We are grateful
and appreciative of their support and consistent value adding contributions. We are also very appreciative of the entirely
professional and supportive relationship with the external auditors.
Statement by the chairperson of the audit committee
The Committee has complied with legal, regulatory and other responsibilities assigned to it by the Board of Trustees.
In making these assessments, we have obtained feedback from management, external and internal audit. Based on
processes and assurance obtained, as chairperson of the audit committee, I recommend the annual report, including the
annual financial statements to the Board of Trustees for approval.
On behalf of the Audit Committee:

Monique Malan (chairperson)
29 July 2015
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Part D:
HUMAn RESOURCES MAnAGEMEnT

During the year under review the Trust underwent an extensive HR review. This has enabled the trust to appoint staff at
the appropriate levels of remuneration and responsibility. Our Policies were also reviewed to ensure they are complete
and suitable. Staff were appointed during the course of the year as described below.
HUMAN RESOURCE PRIORITIES FOR THE YEAR UNDER REVIEW
1. organisational Structure
The Trust has revised its structure for the period under review. In addition, new positions were created and this led to the
size of the organisation growing to a total of 43 positions with 14 vacancies, eight secondments and 21 filled positions.
2. recruitment of Staff
Due to the revised organisational structure and increase in the size of the organisation, the vacancy rate at the end of this
reporting period is 32%. however, the secretariat is putting effort into filling the vacant positions. The secretariat was able
to negotiate secondments of additional staff during the year under review.
3. Highlight achievements
The Secretariat has made the following progress since April 2014:
• All staff have signed employment contracts and all staff signed performance agreements
• Job Profiles for all staff were created and evaluated as part of a Human Resources review
• Salary scales were developed and implemented
4. Challenges faced by the trust
The recruitment of suitably qualified staff was the biggest human resource challenge faced by the Trust during this
reporting period. The Trust requires a very specific and scarce skill set for key positions to fulfil its mandate. This
impacted the timeframes for recruitment, selection and appointments, but the human resource department is working
towards filling the vacancies as soon as possible.
5. Future Human resources Plans
The focus areas for the next reporting period are:
• Reducing the number of vacancies
• Developing job profiles for all the positions
• Developing suitable benefits packages to attract and retain staff
• Developing a performance management system.
HUMAN RESOURCES OVERSIGHT STATISTICS
Personnel cost
The table below is a representation of the human resources within the Trust during this reporting period. The costs below
include eight seconded staff to the Trust, valued at R3 818 million.
Table 6: Personnel cost

1
2

Programme

Total expenditure
(R’000)

Personnel expenditure
(R’000)

Personnel expenditure as %
of total expenditure1

No. of employees1

Average personnel cost per
employee2 (R’000)

All programmes

35 484

14 825

41

29

511

Includes seconded staff
Total expenditure for programme divided by personnel expenditure multiplied by 100

Performance rewards
A performance management policy has been drafted and is in the process of being tabled for approval following
consultations with staff for their input and comments.
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Employment and vacancies
The approved human resource compliment of the Trust during this reporting period was set to 43. At the end of this
reporting period, the Trust had 21 full time employees, eight seconded staff and 14 vacancies as per the table below.
Table 7: Employment and vacancies per programme
Unit

2013/2014
No of employees

2014/2015
Approved posts

2014/2015
No of employees

2014/2015
Vacancies

% of vacancies

3
4
1
4
2
2
16

1
11
11
6
8
6
43

0
9
7
6
2
5
29

1
2
4
0
6
1
14

100%
18%
36%
0%
75%
16%
32%

Communication
Governance and Administration
Monitoring and Evaluation
NSP Coordination
Inter-Governmental and Sector Support
Donor Coordination
Total

Equity (equity targets will be set in the next reporting period)
The table below illustrate the human resource equity of the Trust’s secretariat. The Trust does not have to comply with
BBBEE codes based on the size of the Secretariat, but its turnover exceeds R5 million, which requires the Trust to develop
and identify equity targets. During the next financial year, this will be a priority for the human resource department.
Table 8: Equity
Level

African
Male

Female

Coloured
Male

Female

Top management

Indian
Male

Female

White
Male

Female

1

Senior management

1

Professional qualified

1

4

Skilled

2

4

Semi-skilled

1

1
1

2

1

1

1

2

1

Unskilled
Total

3

10

1

1

3

0

The table does not include seconded staff.
Disabled staff
The trust does not have any disabled staff at this period.
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Trustees’ Responsibilities and Approval
The trustees are required in terms of the Trust Property Control Act 57 of 1988 to maintain adequate
accounting records and are responsible for the content and integrity of the financial statements
and related financial information included in this report. It is their responsibility to ensure that
the financial statements fairly present the state of affairs of the trust as at the end of the financial
year and the results of its operations and cash flows for the period then ended, in conformity
with International Financial Reporting Standards. The external auditors are engaged to express an
independent opinion on the financial statements.
The financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards and are based upon appropriate accounting policies consistently applied and supported
by reasonable and prudent judgements and estimates.
The trustees acknowledge that they are ultimately responsible for the system of internal financial
control established by the trust and place considerable importance on maintaining a strong control
environment. To enable the trustees to meet these responsibilities, the board sets standards for
internal control aimed at reducing the risk of error or loss in a cost effective manner. The standards
include the proper delegation of responsibilities within a clearly defined framework, effective
accounting procedures and adequate segregation of duties to ensure an acceptable level of risk.
These controls are monitored throughout the trust and all employees are required to maintain
the highest ethical standards in ensuring the trust’s business is conducted in a manner that in
all reasonable circumstances is above reproach. The focus of risk management in the trust is on
identifying, assessing, managing and monitoring all known forms of risk across the trust. While
operating risk cannot be fully eliminated, the trust endeavours to minimise it by ensuring that
appropriate infrastructure, controls, systems and ethical behaviour are applied and managed within
predetermined procedures and constraints.
The trustees are of the opinion, based on the information and explanations given by management,
that the system of internal control provides reasonable assurance that the financial records may be
relied on for the preparation of the financial statements. However, any system of internal financial
control can provide only reasonable, and not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or
loss.
The trustees have reviewed the trust’s cash flow forecast for the year to 31 March 2016 and, in
light of this review and the current financial position, they are satisfied that the trust has or had
access to adequate resources to continue in operational existence for the foreseeable future.
The external auditors are responsible for independently auditing and reporting on the trust’s
financial statements. The financial statements have been examined by the trust’s external auditors
and their report is presented on page 42.
The financial statements set out on pages 43 to 54, which have been prepared on the going
concern basis, were approved by the board on 24 July 2015 and were signed on their behalf by:

___________________
Adv MZ Yacoob
Chairperson: Board of Trustees
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Independent Auditor’s Report to the trustees of
the South African National AIDS Council Trust
We have audited the financial statements of the South African National AIDS Council (SANAC)
Trust, as set out on pages 43 to 54, which comprise the statement of financial position as at 31
March 2015, and the statement of comprehensive income, statement of changes in reserves and
statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and the notes, comprising a summary of significant
accounting policies and other explanatory information.
TRUSTEES’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The trustees are responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements
in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards and for such internal control as the
trustees determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from
material misstatements, whether due to fraud or error.
AUDITORS’ RESPONSIBILITY
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We
conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing. Those standards
require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain
reasonable assurance whether the financial statements are free from material misstatement.
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and
disclosures in the financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditors’ judgement,
including the assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether
due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control
relevant to the trust`s preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in order to design
audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing
an opinion on the effectiveness of the trust`s internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the
appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made
by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a
basis for our audit opinion.
OPINION
In our opinion, the financial statements of SANAC Trust for the year then ended 31 March 2015 are
prepared, in all material respects, in accordance with the basis of accounting described in note 1 to
the financial statements.

––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––––
ARC Chartered Accountants and Auditors Incorporated
Registered Chartered Accountants and Auditors (S.A.)
Per: F. van Heerden CA(SA)/RA
Pretoria
29 July 2015
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Statement oF FinanCial PoSition aS at 31 marCH 2015
Note(s)
Assets
Non-Current Assets
Property, plant and equipment
Current Assets
Accounts receivable
Cash and cash equivalents

2015

2014

3

549 961

678 468

4
5

1 445 776
37 438 567
38 884 343
39 434 304

624 598
33 971 868
34 596 466
35 274 934

25 822 368

30 063 110

383 767
6 921 656
6 306 513
13 611 936
39 434 304

164 352
5 047 472

Total Assets
Reserves and Liabilities
Reserves
Reserves
Liabilities
Current Liabilities
Provisions
Accounts payable
Deferred income

6
7
8

Total Reserves and Liabilities

5 211 824
35 274 934

STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
Note(s)

2015

2014

29 511 449
(35 483 985)

23 432 485
(39 322 305)

(5 972 536)

(15 889 820)

1 732 898
(1 104)
(4 240 742)
(4 240 742)

1 525 058
(53 987)
(14 418 749)
(14 418 749)

Reserves
44 481 859
(14 418 749)
(14 418 749)
30 063 110
(4 240 742)
-

Total reserves
44 481 859
(14 418 749)
(14 418 749)
30 063 110
(4 240 742)
-

Deficit for the year

(4 240 742)

(4 240 742)

Reserves at 31 March 2015

25 822 368

25 822 368

Income
Project expenses

9

Operating deficit
Investment revenue
Finance costs
Deficit for the year
Deficit for the year

10
11

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN RESERVES
Reserves at 01 April 2013
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income
Deficit for the year
Reserves at 01 April 2014
Deficit for the year
Other comprehensive income
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STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
Note(s)

2015

2014

1 892 221

(13 745 824)

1 732 898

1 525 058

(1 104)

(53 987)

3 624 015

(12 274 753)

-

15 000 000

(157 316)

(74 440)

-

(10 251)

(157 316)

14 915 309

Cash flows from financing activities
Repayment of other financial liabilities

-

(2 768 619)

Net cash from financing activities

-

(2 768 619)

Total cash movement for the year

3 466 699

(128 063)

33 971 868

34 099 931

37 438 567

33 971 868

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from/(used) for operations

13

Interest income
Finance costs
Net cash from operating activities
Cash flows from investing activities
Decrease in accrued income
Purchase of property plant and equipment

3

Loss from derecognised property
Net cash from investing activities

Cash at the beginning of the year
Total cash at end of the year

5

Accounting Policies
1. PreSentation oF FinanCial StatementS
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards. The
financial statements have been prepared on the historical cost basis, and incorporate the principal accounting policies set
out below. They are presented in South African Rands.
1.1 Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment are tangible assets which the Trust holds for its own use or for rental to others and which
are expected to be used for more than one year.
An item of property, plant and equipment is recognised as an asset when it is probable that future economic benefits
associated with the item will flow to the company, and the cost of the item can be measured reliably.
Property, plant and equipment is carried at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment losses.
Property, plant and equipment is initially measured at cost. Cost includes all of the expenditure which is directly
attributable to the acquisition or construction of the asset, including the capitalisation of borrowing costs on qualifying
assets and adjustments in respect of hedge accounting, where appropriate.
Expenditure incurred subsequently for major services, additions to or replacements of parts of property, plant and
equipment are capitalised if it is probable that future economic benefits associated with the expenditure will flow to the
company and the cost can be measured reliably. Day to day servicing costs are included in profit or loss in the year in
which they are incurred.
Property, plant and equipment is subsequently stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses.
Depreciation of an asset commences when the asset is ready for use as intended by management. Depreciation is
charged to write off the asset’s carrying amount over its estimated useful life to its estimated residual value, using a
method that best reflects the pattern in which the asset’s economic benefits are consumed by the trust. Leased assets
are depreciated in a consistent manner over the shorter of their expected useful lives and the lease term. Depreciation is
not charged to an asset if its estimated residual value exceeds or is equal to its carrying amount. Depreciation of an asset
ceases at the earlier of the date that the asset is classified as held for sale or derecognised.
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The useful lives of items of property, plant and equipment have been assessed as follows:
Item
Office equipment
IT equipment

Depreciation method
Straight line
Straight line

Average useful life
5
3

The residual value, useful life and depreciation method of each asset are reviewed at the end of each reporting year. If the
expectations differ from previous estimates, the change is accounted for prospectively as a change in accounting estimate.
Each part of an item of property, plant and equipment with a cost that is significant in relation to the total cost of the
item is depreciated separately. The depreciation charge for each year is recognised in profit or loss unless it is included in
the carrying amount of another asset.
Impairment tests are performed on property, plant and equipment when there is an indicator that they may be
impaired. When the carrying amount of an item of property, plant and equipment is assessed to be higher than the estimated recoverable amount, an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss to bring the carrying amount
in line with the recoverable amount.
An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal or when no future economic benefits are
expected from its continued use or disposal. Any gain or loss arising from the derecognition of an item of property, plant
and equipment is included in profit or loss when the item is derecognised. The gain or loss arising from the derecognition
of an item of property, plant and equipment is determined as the difference between the net disposal proceeds, if any,
and the carrying amount of the item.
1.2 Financial instruments
Accounts receivable
Accounts receivable are measured at initial recognition at cost, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost using
the effective interest method. Appropriate allowances for estimated irrecoverable amounts are recognised in profit or loss
when there is objective evidence that the asset is impaired. Significant financial difficulties of the debtor, probability that
the debtor will enter bankruptcy or financial reorganisation, and default or delinquency in payments (more than 30 days
overdue) are considered indicators that the account receivable is impaired. The allowance recognised is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows discounted at the
effective interest rate computed at initial recognition.
The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of an allowance account, and the amount of the loss
is recognised in profit or loss within operating expenses. When an account receivable is uncollectable, it is written
off against the allowance account for accounts receivable. Subsequent recoveries of amounts previously written off are
credited against operating expenses in profit or loss.
Trade and other payables
Trade payables are initially measured at cost, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest
method.
Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand deposits, and other short-term highly liquid investments
that are readily convertible to a known amount of cash and are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value.
1.3 Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership. A lease
is classified as an operating lease if it does not transfer substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership.
Operating leases – lessee
Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. The difference between
the amounts recognised as an expense and the contractual payments are recognised as an operating lease asset. This
liability is not discounted. Any contingent rents are expensed in the period they are incurred.
1.4 Impairment of assets
The trust assesses at each end of the reporting period whether there is any indication that an asset may be impaired. If
any such indication exists, the trust estimates the recoverable amount of the asset.
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If there is any indication that an asset may be impaired, the recoverable amount is estimated for the individual asset.
If it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of the individual asset, the recoverable amount of the cashgenerating unit to which the asset belongs is determined.
The recoverable amount of an asset or a cash-generating unit is the higher of its fair value less costs to sell and its value
in use. If the recoverable amount of an asset is less than its carrying amount, the carrying amount of the asset is reduced
to its recoverable amount. That reduction is an impairment loss.
An impairment loss of assets carried at cost less any accumulated depreciation or amortisation is recognised
immediately in profit or loss. Any impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as a revaluation decrease.
An entity assesses at each reporting date whether there is any indication that an impairment loss recognised in prior
periods for assets other than goodwill may no longer exist or may have decreased. If any such indication exists, the
recoverable amounts of those assets are estimated.
The increased carrying amount of an asset other than goodwill attributable to a reversal of an impairment loss does
not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset
in prior periods.
A reversal of an impairment loss of assets carried at cost less accumulated depreciation or amortisation other than
goodwill is recognised immediately in profit or loss. Any reversal of an impairment loss of a revalued asset is treated as
a revaluation increase.
1.5 Reserves
Reserves are comprised of the initial donation in the trust after surplus or deficit for each financial year.
1.6 Employee benefits
Short-term employee benefits
The cost of short-term employee benefits, (those payable within 12 months after the service is rendered, such as paid
vacation leave and sick leave), are recognised in the period in which the service is rendered and are not discounted.
The expected cost of compensated absences is recognised as an expense as the employees render services that increase
their entitlement or, in the case of non-accumulating absences, when the absence occurs.
1.7 Provisions and contingencies
Provisions are recognised when:
• the trust has a present obligation as a result of a past event;
• it is probable that an outflow of resources embodying economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation;
and
• a reliable estimate can be made of the obligation.
The amount of a provision is the present value of the expenditure expected to be required to settle the obligation.
Where some or all of the expenditure required to settle a provision is expected to be reimbursed by another party,
the reimbursement shall be recognised when, and only when, it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received
if the entity settles the obligation. The reimbursement shall be treated as a separate asset. The amount recognised for the
reimbursement shall not exceed the amount of the provision.
Provisions are not recognised for future operating losses.
If an entity has a contract that is onerous, the present obligation under the contract shall be recognised and measured
as aprovision.
1.8 Government grants
Government grants are recognised when there is reasonable assurance that:
• the trust will comply with the conditions attaching to them; and
• the grants will be received.
Government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match them with the related costs that they
are intended to compensate. A government grant that becomes receivable as compensation for expenses or losses already
incurred or for the purpose of giving immediate financial support to the entity with no future related costs is recognised
as income of the period in which it becomes receivable.
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Government grants related to assets, including non-monetary grants at fair value, are presented in the statement of
financial position by setting up the grant as deferred income or by deducting the grant in arriving at the carrying amount
of the asset. Grants related to income are presented as a credit in the profit or loss.
In the event of default the repayment of a grant related to income is applied first against any un-amortised deferred
credit set up in respect of the grant. To the extent that the repayment exceeds any such deferred credit, or where no
deferred credit exists,the repayment is recognised immediately as an expense.
Repayment of a grant related to an asset is recorded by increasing the carrying amount of the asset or reducing the
deferred income balance by the amount repayable. The cumulative additional depreciation that would have been recognised to date as an expense in the absence of the grant is recognised immediately as an expense.
1.9 Income
Income comprises the fair value of the consideration received or receivable from grants, donations and fundraising
activities. Income is recognised as follows:
Non-designated funds (Grants)
Grants are accounted for on a cash received basis.
Designated programme funds (Grants)
Designated programme funds received are deferred and recognised in the statement of Other comprehensive income
when utilised. Designated funds are those funds the use of which is restricted by the donor for specified projects.
Donations in kind (Designated and non-designated)
Donations in kind (asset or service) are recognised at fair value on the date of receipt.
Interest income
Interest income is recognised on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.
1.10 Translation of foreign currencies
Foreign currency transactions
A foreign currency transaction is recorded, on initial recognition in Rands, by applying to the foreign currency amount
the spot exchange rate between the functional currency and the foreign currency at the date of the transaction.
At the end of the reporting period:
• foreign currency monetary items are translated using the closing rate;
• non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are translated using the
exchange rate at the date of the transaction; and
• non-monetary items that are measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange rates at
the date when the fair value was determined.
Cash flows arising from transactions in a foreign currency are recorded in Rands by applying to the foreign currency
amount the exchange rate between the Rand and the foreign currency at the date of the cash flow.
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Notes to the Financial Statements
2. new StanDarDS anD interPretationS
IFRS 9 Financial Instruments
This new standard is the result of a three phase project to replace IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and
Measurement. To date, the standard includes chapters for classification, measurement and derecognition of financial
assets and liabilities as well as new hedging requirements. The following are main changes from IAS 39:
• Financial assets will be categorised as those subsequently measured at fair value or at amortised cost.
• Financial assets at amortised cost are those financial assets where the business model for managing the assets is to
hold the assets to collect contractual cash flows (where the contractual cash flows represent payments of principal
and interest only). All other financial assets are to be subsequently measured at fair value.
• For hybrid contracts, where the host contract is an asset within the scope of IFRS 9, then the whole instrument is
classified in accordance with IFRS 9, without separation of the embedded derivative. In other circumstances, the
provisions of IAS 39 still apply.
• Voluntary reclassification of financial assets is prohibited. Financial assets shall be reclassified if the company
changes its business model for the management of financial assets. In such circumstances, reclassification takes
place prospectively from the beginning of the first reporting period after the date of change of the business model.
• Investments in equity instruments may be measured at fair value through other comprehensive income. When
such an election is made, it may not subsequently be revoked, and gains or losses accumulated in equity are not
recycled to profit or loss on derecognition of the investment. The election may be made per individual investment.
• IFRS 9 does not allow for investments in equity instruments to be measured at cost.
• The classification categories for financial liabilities remains unchanged. However, where a financial liability is
designated as at fair value through profit or loss, the change in fair value attributable to changes in the liabilities
credit risk shall be presented in other comprehensive income. This excludes situations where such presentation
will create or enlarge an accounting mismatch, in which case, the full fair value adjustment shall be recognised in
profit or loss.
• The new hedging provisions align hedge accounting more closely with the actual risk management approach.
• Certain non-derivative financial instruments are now allowed as hedging instruments.
• Additional exposures are allowed as hedged items. These exposures include risk components of non-financial
items,net positions and layer components of items, aggregated exposures combining derivative and non-derivative
exposures and equity instruments at fair value through other comprehensive income.
• The hedge effectiveness criteria have been amended, including the removal of the 80%-125% “bright line test” to
qualify for hedge accounting.
• The concept of rebalancing has been introduced when the hedging relationship is ineffective because the hedge
ratio is no longer appropriate. When rebalancing is required, and provided the risk management objective remains
the same, the hedge ratio is adjusted rather than discontinuing the hedging relationship.
• Additional disclosure requirements have been introduced for hedging.
The effective date has not yet been established as the project is currently incomplete. The IASB has communicated that
the effective date will not be before years beginning on or after 01 January 2018. IFRS 9 may be early adopted. If IFRS 9
is early adopted, the new hedging requirements may be excluded until the effective date. The company does not envisage
the adoption of the standard until such time as it becomes applicable to the company’s operations. It is unlikely that the
standard will have a material impact on the trust’s financial statements.
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3. ProPertY, Plant anD eQUiPment

Office equipment
IT equipment

Cost or revaluation
718 066
615 151

2015
Accumulated
depreciation
(315 186)
(468 070)

Carrying
value
402 880
147 081

Cost or
revaluation
588 057
620 466

2014
Accumulated
depreciation
(217 869)
(312 186)

Carrying
value
370 188
308 280

1 333 217

(783 256)

549 961

1 208 523

(530 055)

678 468

Opening balance
370 188
308 280
678 468

Additions
139 315
18 001
157 316

Depreciation
(106 623)
(179 200)
(285 823)

Total
402 880
147 081
549 961

Total

Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2015
Office equipment
IT equipment
Reconciliation of property, plant and equipment – 2014
Office equipment
IT equipment

Opening balance
467 551
330 977

Additions
3 069
71 371

Disposals
(10 250)

Transfers
6 925
91 737

Depreciation
(107 357)
(175 555)

Total
370 188
308 280

798 528

74 440

(10 250)

98 662

(282 912)

678 468

4. aCCoUntS reCeivable
Accounts receivable
VAT
Deposits held
Accrued interest

2015
393 359
894 493
123 081
34 843

2014
25 984
412 674
185 940

1 445 776

624 598

Fair value of accounts receivable
Receivables are all interest free, fair value is considered to be equal to carrying value and considered to be current.
5. CaSH anD CaSH eQUivalentS
Cash and cash equivalents consist of:
Cash on hand
Bank balances
Short-term deposits

2015
1 891
713 087
36 723 589
37 438 567

2014
456 556
33 515 312
33 971 868

Funds are kept on short term deposit to earn interest as per investment policy. Funds are withdrawn as needed to meet
obligations. Interest earned on investments at 7.22% pa (2014: 5% pa)
6. ProviSionS
Provisions
Provision for leave pay

2015

2014

383 767

164 352
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7. aCCoUntS PaYable
Accounts payable
Accruals
Employee payables

2015
359 434
6 562 222
6 921 656

2014
2 237 025
2 665 082
145 365
5 047 472

2015
570 433
809 960
1 024 344
352 792
1 394 488
651 474
1 589 800
146 279
6 562 222

2014
1 674 401
411 075
107 629
450 415
21 562
2 665 082

Project allocation of accruals
NSP
Government & Civil Society
Donor Coordination
Governance and Administration
DFID
CDC
GIZ
Communication

Fair value of accounts payable
Payables are all interest free, the fair value is considered to be equal to the carrying value and are considered to be current.
8. DeFerreD inCome
GIZ
DFID

2015
758 525
5 547 988
6 306 513

2014
-

Deferred income consists of designated programme funds (Grants). Designated programme funds received are deferred
and recognised in the statement of comprehensive income when utilised. Designated funds are those funds the use of
which is restricted by the donor for specified projects
9. inCome
Non-designated grants
GIZ
Designated grants
DFID
CDC
GIZ

Donations in kind
GIZ - Seconded staff
SHIPP - Seconded staff
FHI - Seconded staff
UNAIDS - Seconded staff

Donations
Government grants
Total

2015

2014

244 716

-

2 751 128
3 543 241
3 593 555
9 887 924

2 499 800
2 499 800

1 540 000
1 876 272
401 321
3 817 593

1 015 748
985 669
828 247
2 144 522
4 974 186

13 950 233
15 561 216
29 511 449

7 473 986
15 958 499
23 432 485

2015

2014

1 732 898

1 525 058

10. inveStment revenUe
Interest revenue
Bank

50

South African National AIDS Council (SANAC) Trust

11. FinanCe CoStS
Penalties

2015
1 104

2014
53 987

2015
152 642

2014
447 366

2015
(4 240 742)

2014
(14 418 749)

285 823
(1 732 898)
1 104
219 415
-

282 912
10 251
(1 525 058)
53 987
84 083
(88 413)

(821 178)
1 874 184
6 306 513
1 892 221

103 688
(338 607)
2 090 082
(13 745 824)

2015

2014

2 127 748
10 651 656
12 779 404

60 592
159 209
219 801

12. aUDitorS’ remUneration
Fees

13.CaSH generateD From oPerationS
Loss before taxation
Adjustments for:
Depreciation and amortisation
Net profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment
Interest received - investment
Finance costs
Movements in provisions
Other non-cash items
Changes in working capital:
Accounts receivable
Deposits
Accounts payable
Deferred income

14.CommitmentS
Operating leases – as lessee (expense)
Minimum lease payments due
– within one year
– in second to fifth year inclusive

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the trust for its office property. The lease is negotiated for a term of
five years and rentals are fixed for five years. No contingent rent is payable. Another operating lease represents the lease
payments payable by the Trust for its printers. The lease is negotiated on a term of three years and rentals are fixed for
three years. No contingent rent is payable.
Commitments relating to programmes
Commitments consists of contracts entered into before year end that do not lead to a constructive or legal obligation at
year end.
Human Sciences Research Council (HSRC)
Children’s Rights Centre Trust (CRCT)
Health Systems Trust
Medical Research Council
South African Field Epidemiology and Laboratory Training Programme (SAFELTP)
University of Cape Town (CIDER)
SONKE Gender Justice Network
Show me your number (SMYN)
OUT LGBT Well-being (OUT)
Treatment Action Campaign NPC (TAC)
Networking HIV/AIDS Community of South Africa (NACOSA)
AIDS Consortium NPC
Mediology
Institute Of Health Programs and Systems (IHPS)
Dure Technologies
Centre for Economic Governance and AIDS in Africa

2015
654 315
500 000
457 556
1 686 665
25 000
25 000
250 000
29 020
1 999 750
5 108 000
1 797 192
409 083
301 545
13 243 126

2014
2 181 049
361 104
133 183
500 000
457 556
1 686 665
25 000
111 400
87 120
5 543 077
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15. FirSt-time aDoPtion oF international FinanCial rePorting StanDarDS
The Trust has applied IFRS 1, First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards, to provide a starting
point for the reporting under International Reporting and Accounting Standards. The trust previously reported under
GRAP. On principle these standards have been applied retrospectively and the 2014 comparatives contained in these
financial statements do not differ from those published in the financial statements published for the year ended 31 March
2015. The date of transition was 1 April 2014 and there was no effect of the transition on the statements.
16. relateD PartieS
Relationships
Trustees
Members of key management

Refer to General information pg 40
CEO – MF Abdullah
CFO – A Uys
2015

2014

2 050 942

2 866 049

Compensation to key management
Short-term employee benefits

17. trUSteeS remUneration
The Trust Deed provides that the trustees shall not be remunerated for any professional services provided to the trust.
It is confirmed that no remuneration has been paid to the trustees listed in the Report of the Board of Trustees in the
reporting period.
18. riSK management
Financial risk management
The trust’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, fair value interest rate
risk, cash flow interest rate risk and price risk), credit risk and liquidity risk.
The trust’s overall risk management program focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets, exchange rate,
interest rate and political climate and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the trust’s financial performance.
Risk management is carried out by the finance department under policies approved by the board. The board provides
written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas, such as interest rate risk
and investment of excess liquidity. The audit and risk committee monitors compliance to risk management policies and
evaluates the risk environment of the trust.
Liquidity risk
The trust’s risk to liquidity is a result of the funds available to cover future commitments. The trust manages liquidity risk
through an ongoing review of future commitments and funding available.
Interest rate risk
The trust’s income and operating cash flows are to a large extent independent of changes in the market interest rates. The
trust invest surplus cash on call and investment accounts and its exposure to interest rate risk is limited by virtue of the
limited term that surplus cash is held in investments.
Credit risk
Credit risk consists mainly of cash deposits, cash equivalents and trade debtors. The trust only deposits cash with major
banks with high quality credit standing and limits exposure to any one counter-party.
Foreign exchange risk
The trust is exposed to currency risk by virtue of having long term contracts with foreign donors, which is the risk that
arises as a result of changes in exchange rates. The exposure to currency risk is limited by virtue of the limited transactions
with suppliers from outside the country. Transaction dates and settlement dates are kept close together.
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19. Fair valUe inFormation
Fair value hierarchy
The levels are defined as follows:
Level 1: Quoted unadjusted prices in active markets for identical assets or liabilities that the trust can access at
measurement date.
Level 2: Inputs other than quoted prices included in level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability either directly or
indirectly.
Level 3: Unobservable inputs for the asset or liability.
Fair value of assets and liabilities is regarded as the fair value of consideration received or transferred for the asset or
liability. This represents the value at which the entity expects the asset to be realised or the liability settled.
20. going ConCern
The financial statements have been prepared on the basis of accounting policies applicable to a going concern. This basis
presumes that funds will be available to finance future operations and that the realisation of assets and settlement of
liabilities,contingent obligations and commitments will occur in the ordinary course of business.
21. eventS aFter tHe rePorting PerioD
The trust entered into a five year operating lease after year end. The financial impact of which is disclosed under
commitments, note nr 14. There were no other events after the reporting period that affect the Financial Statements.
22. taXation
SANAC Trust has been granted PBO status under section 30(3) of the Income Tax Act No 58 of 1962. The registration
has been granted retrospectively from 12 September 2002. SANAC Trust is therefore exempt form income tax under
section10(1)(cN) of the Income Tax Act.
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Unaudited supplementary information

Detailed Income Statement

Notes

2015

2014

9

15 561 216
13 950 233
29 511 449

15 958 499
7 473 986
23 432 485

10

1 732 898

1 525 058

(481 250)
(47 788)
(152 642)
(56 552)
(9 662 172)
(53 368)
(285 823)
(14 825 946)
(377 363)
(3 879)
(905 247)
(54 490)
(97 367)
(561 216)
(6 190)
(356 142)
(34 710)
(3 343 981)
(70 349)
(57 513)
(3 450 281)
(599 718)

(384 061)
(1 204 320)
(447 366)
(20 229)
(2 911 110)
(336 753)
(282 912)
(12 873 806)
(162 710)
(2 138)
(1 083 388)
(63 262)
(112 102)
(561 216)
(5 133)
(894 960)
(10 251)
(8 130)
(10 723 050)
(226 892)
(81 227)
(4 424 837)
(2 502 452)

(35 483 987)
(4 239 640)
(1 104)

(39 322 305)
(14 364 762)
(53 987)

(4 240 744)

(14 418 749)

Income
Government grants
Grants
Other income
Interest received
Operating expenses
Accounting fees
Advertising
Auditors remuneration
Bank charges
Consulting and professional fees
Consumables
Depreciation, amortisation and impairment
Employee costs
IT expenses
Insurance
Meetings
Motor vehicle expenses
Office expenses
Office rent
Postage
Printing and stationery
Profit and loss on derecognition of assets
Staff per diems Travel - local
Grants
Telephone and fax
Travel - international
Travel - local
Venue and facility hire

12

Operating deficit
Finance costs

11

Deficit for the year

PROGRAMME EXPENDITURE AGAINST BUDGET
1. Programme
2015 Budget
NSP Coordination

4 120 379

2015 Programme
Expenditure
4 865 272

Governmental & Civil Society Support

3 038 082

3 561 188

(523 106)

Remuneration

9 378 535

12 620 079

(3 241 544)

2 670 647
5 780 469
5 205 419
2 788 031
32 981 562

2 289 907
4 382 116
4 220 305
3 546 223
35 485 090

380 740
1 398 353
985 114
(758 192}
(2 503 528)

Donor Coordination
Communications
Monitoring & Evaluation
Governance & Administration
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Variance

Variance Explanation

(744 893)

Consultant costs in lieu of remuneration
difficult to recruit suitable person
Meeting costs – Additional unplanned
SANAC meetings
Goods and services in received in kind for
seconded staff
Underspend due to agreement delays
Underspend due to agreement delays
Goods and services received in kind

